
LICENSING SUB COMMITTEE

PIZZA PLANET

30 October 2017

10.30 am

Town Hall, Watford

Please note the start time of this meeting

Contact

Alan Garside / Jodie Kloss
legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk 
01923 278376

For information about attending meetings please visit the council’s website.

Publication date: 20 October 2017

mailto:legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk
https://www.watford.gov.uk/info/20017/councillors_and_decision_making/163/can_i_attend_a_committee


Committee Membership

Councillors S Bolton, J Connal, K Crout, A Dychton, J Fahmy, K Hastrick, M Hofman, 
P Jeffree, Ahsan Khan, B Mauthoor, M Mills, M Parker, G Saffery, D Scudder and R Smith

The Sub-Committee to comprise 3 members from those listed above.

Agenda

Part A – Open to the Public

1. Committee membership/ election of a Chair 

2. Disclosure of interests (if any) 

3. Application for premises licence: Pizza Planet, Unit 15, Riverside Road, Watford 
(Pages 3 - 99)

Report of the Head of Community and Environmental Services.

This report asks the Sub-Committee to consider an application for a new premises 
licence following the receipt of representations.



PART A

 

Report to: Licensing Sub-Committee

Date of meeting: 30 October 2017

Report of: Head of Community & Environmental Services

Title:
Application for new premises licence
Unit 15, Riverside Road, Watford, Herts
17/01127/PRE

1.0 SUMMARY
This application is for a premises licence under Section 17 of the Licensing 
Act 2003.  Mr Chaudry made an application on the 31 August 2017 for a new 
premises licence in respect of Unit 15, Riverside Road, Watford.  The 
licensable activity applied for is the late night refreshment.  

1.1 Members are reminded that representations are only relevant if they relate 
to one or more of the licensing objectives.  The four licensing objectives are 
the prevention of crime and disorder, public safety, the prevention of public 
nuisance and the protection of children from harm. 

During the consultation period twenty-four representations against this 
application were received consisting of twenty two from residents and two 
from Councillors.  A representation was also received from the 
Environmental Health section in their role as a responsible authority.
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That the Licensing Sub-Committee determines whether to grant the 
application (amended as appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives) as set out in the report.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Contact Officer:
For further information on this report please contact: Parminder Seyan 
(Licensing Officer) telephone 01923 278476: email: 
parminder.seyan@watford.gov.uk 

Report approved by: Alan Gough, Head of Community & Environmental 
Services

3.0 APPLICATION

3.1 Type of authorisation applied for 
New Premises Licence

3.2 Description of premises 
The premises are described on the application as follows:

“We will be operating a delivery service of hot food, food (pizza’s) will be 
prepared at the sight and shall be delivered to the customer.  We do not offer 
a sit in service and we do not offer a collection service.  We shall operate from 
an industrial warehouse based in riverside industrial estate.  There will be no 
supply or sale or storage of alcohol.  The food will be prepared at the sight and 
delivered to the customer within a 3 mile radius.”

3.3 Under Policy LP1, the proposed use would be defined as a take-away, in that 
the premises are requesting permission to provide late night refreshment for 
consumption away from the premises.

3.4 The unit is located within a mixture of commercial and residential units. 
Under Policy LP2, this area would be defined as in a ‘residential area’.

3.5 A map of the location of the premises is attached at appendix 1.

3.6 The plan submitted with the application showing the layout of the premises is 
attached at appendix 2.

3.7 Licensable activities 
This application is requesting permission to provide the following activities

Licensable activity Requested
Plays

Page 4

mailto:parminder.seyan@watford.gov.uk


Films
Indoor sporting events
Boxing or wrestling entertainment
Live music
Recorded music
Performances of dance
Entertainment of a similar description to live or recorded 
music, or dance
Provision of late night refreshment 
Sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises
Sale of alcohol for consumption off the premises

3.8 Licensable hours
The hours proposed in this application are detailed in the following table:

Provision of late night refreshment
Monday 23:00 – 02:00
Tuesday 23:00 – 02:00
Wednesday 23:00 – 02:00
Thursday 23:00 – 02:00
Friday 23:00 – 02:00
Saturday 23:00 – 02:00
Sunday 23:00 - 02:00

3.9 The original application did request the provision of late night refreshment to 
be permitted from 16:00 – 04:00 hours Monday to Sunday.  However, after 
discussions with the Police the application was amended to 23:00 – 02:00 
hours Monday to Sunday. The provision of hot food from the proposed 
opening time of 16:00 hours until 23:00 hours is not a licensable activity. 

3.10 For clarity, there shall be no public access to the premises and so no opening 
hours are listed.

4.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

4.1 The following background information is known about these premises:

4.2 Proposed licence holder
Hamzah Chaudry

4.3 Current licences held
The premises is not currently licensed

Page 5



4.4 Closing date for representations
3 October 2017

4.5 Officers can advise that the consultation period for this application was 
extended from 28 September 2017 to 3 October 2017 as initially  site notice 
on the premises had not being advertised.  

4.6 Public notice published in newspaper
8 September 2017

4.7 Visits and Enforcement action
The council’s Business Compliance Officer received a complaint from a local 
business in September 2017, alleging that the premises had been operating 
from 16:00 until 04:00 hours.  Upon investigation the applicant confirmed to 
the Officer that they opened the business during the second week of August.   
On receipt of an email from the Business Compliance Officer they stopped 
trading immediately and submitted an application for a premises licence and 
agreed to remain closed until the grant of a licence. On the occasions when 
officers have visited the site, or attempted to order food on line, the business 
has not been trading.

5.0 PROMOTION OF LICENSING OBJECTIVES.

5.1 The operating schedule submitted by the applicant describes the steps that 
they intend to take to promote the four licensing objectives. This is attached 
at appendix 3.

6.0 RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES

6.1 Environmental Health
One formal representation has been received from the Environmental Health 
section and is attached at appendix 4.

6.2 Police
The Police did enter discussions with the applicant with regards to their 
concerns but in light of the applicant agreeing to amend the hours no 
representation was submitted.

6.3 Licensing Authority
The Licensing Authority in their role as responsible authority, having reviewed 
the application and shared residents’ concerns, have proposed the following 
conditions.  As the conditions were agreed by the applicant, the licensing 
authority made no submission of formal representations.

Page 6



The premises licence holder shall ensure that no members of the public shall 
be admitted to the premises.

1. All orders for late night refreshment shall only be accepted if they are 
made remotely.

2. The premises licence holder shall ensure that all orders for late night 
refreshment are dispatched to bona fide addresses only.

6.4 Planning
No representations

6.5 Fire and Rescue Service
No representations

6.6 Trading Standards
No representations

6.7 Immigration
No representations

6.8 Public Health
No representations

7.0 OTHER PERSONS

7.1 Representations have been received from other persons below on the 
grounds of prevention of public nuisance, public safety, protection of children 
from harm and the prevention of crime and disorder.  These representations 
are attached at appendix 5 and have been made available to the applicant.

7.2 Reference
letter

Name Address Representative
Body(Yes/No)

Relevance
to which
licensing 
objective

5A A & C 
Warner

97 Silk Mill 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

5B Mr & Mrs 
D’angelo

No Public 
nuisance

5C Brenda 8 Silk Mill No Public 

Page 7



Cuthbertson Road nuisance

5D C D Power 6 Silk Mill 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

5E Carlos 
Santos

51 Riverside 
Road

No Public 
Nuisance

5F Mrs J Bishop Waterman 
Close

No Public 
Nuisance 

5G Ms J 
Webster

81 Riverside 
Road

No Public 
Nuisance

5H M Francis & 
C Lindsay

78 Silk Mill 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

5I Graham Bell 105 Silk Mill 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

*5J Mr & Mrs 
Collins

107 Riverside 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

5K Mrs 
Caroline 
Baverstock

14 Silk Mill 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

5L Mrs J 
Johnson

64 Silk Mill 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

5M Mrs L Bean 12 Silk Mill 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

5N Ms S 
Templeton

89 Silk Mill 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

*5O Quintin B 
Butcher

44 Riverside 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

5P S Praties No Public 
nuisance

5Q Wendy 
Brown

101 Silk Mill 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

5R Mrs M L 9 Waterman No Public 

Page 8



Chambers Close nuisance

5S Mr & Mrs 
Startin

48 Silk Mill 
Road

No Public
nuisance

5T Cllr Maggie 
Parker 
(Oxhey 
Ward)

53 Oxhey 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

**5U Soraya 
Rahim

109 Riverside No Public 
nuisance

5V Paul 
Yeatman

84 Silk Mill 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

5W Cllrs Alison 
and Andrew 
Scarth 
(3Rivers DC)

68 Brookdene 
Avenue

No Public 
nuisance

5X Mr & Mrs 
Edmonds

86 Silk Mill 
Road

No Public 
nuisance

* Also signed the petition.

** Soraya Rahim has submitted a representation including ten signatures 
from residents in the form of a petition who also wish to have their voices 
represented.

7.3 As there are a number of representations which raise different issues, the 
Sub-Committee is asked to make clear in its reasons those parts of the 
representations it accepts and those is does not accept when making its 
determination.

7.4 In broad terms, the residents have raised the following points in their 
representations:

(1) Parking is already extremely limited on this road and people park in 
front of driveways and garages. 

(2) Currently the unit gates are locked at night and with the security gates 
opening and closing late at night every time the food is taken out for 
delivery throughout the week would disturb residents’ sleep.

(3) Already a busy road with no parking, large vehicles mounting the 

Page 9



footway which is a danger to young and old alike.  

(4) Noise from delivery drivers chatting, slamming delivery car doors 
during loading.

(5) Representations make reference to how they live directly opposite the 
premises with front facing bedrooms, and are seriously concerned that 
the lighting, smell and the increased noise levels from the operation of 
the premises would disturb the residents. 

(6) Street lights in the area surrounding the unit go out at midnight. This 
lack of lighting is a further danger to footpath users coming home from 
the town night life.

(7) Trade refuse would cause unpleasant smells and encourage vermin. 
Foxes and rats would be attracted by the smell.

(8) Quite a few residents have raised concerns that the proposed 
operating hours of seven days a week, will give rise to noise, smell, 
fumes, rubbish, traffic, litter and has the potential to encourage more 
people to the area, at a time of night when residents should feel safe in 
their own homes.

(9) The industrial estate currently is locked at 11pm therefore becomes a 
safe unit.  Concerns are raised that opening until late hours in the 
morning will attract more crime into the area as it is an extremely 
concealed unit and this will affect the safety of young families.

 (10)Residents have also referred to parking issues when customers collect 
takeaways they park antisocially blocking the pavements, double 
yellow lines are often ignored and making access and egress difficult.

      
7.5 Officers can advise that all the other parties who have made representations 

have been notified of the amendments that were made to the hours on the 
application and the conditions which were agreed with the licensing 
authority. It has also been confirmed with all other parties that it is not the 
applicant’s intention that customers collect their orders.

7.6 In accordance with Policy LP11, officers must advise that representations 
from three other parties were rejected, with two judged to be frivolous as 
they gave no valid grounds for making the representations, and the third for 
being anonymous.  Officers can confirm that one of the objector was notified 
as to why the representation was rejected and was given an opportunity to 

Page 10



resubmit the representations as the application was still within the 
consultation period .   With regards to the second rejected objection as it was 
received on the last day of the consultation period it was not possible to 
resubmit the representations.

8.0 POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

8.1 The following provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 apply to this application:

 Sections 17 and 18 (Application for premises licence):
Section 17 details the process which the applicant must have 
followed for the application to be considered valid. Section 18 
describes the process by which an application for a premises licence 
is determined, including where relevant representations have been 
made as in this case.

 The Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 (as amended)
These regulations detail how hearings should be conducted to 
determine applications submitted under the Licensing Act.

8.2 Statutory guidance

The following provisions of the Secretary of State’s guidance (April 2017) 
apply to this application:

 Paragraphs 8.38 - 8.46:
These paragraphs explain how steps should be taken to promote the 
licensing objectives. It is for the Sub-Committee to decide in light of 
this guidance whether the measures offered by the applicant are 
appropriate to promote the licensing objectives. It is equally 
important to use the same measure when looking at any steps 
requested by a party making representations against an application.

 Paragraphs 9.31 – 9.41:
These paragraphs explain that hearings should be focussed on the 
steps considered appropriate to the promotion of the licensing 
objectives, as well as how appropriate weight must be attributed to 
the steps to promote the licensing objectives, the representations 
presented by all parties, the statutory guidance, and the licensing 
authority’s statement of licensing policy.

 Paragraphs 9.42 – 9.44
These paragraphs explains that when determining applications, the 
authority’s determination should be evidence-based, as well as how 

Page 11



to assess if a step is ‘appropriate’ for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives.

 Chapter 10:
This chapter looks at best practice in relation to conditions that may 
be attached to a premises licence should it be believed that such 
conditions are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives. Any 
additional conditions requested by any party should be considered 
with reference to this chapter.

8.3 The Sub-Committee is reminded of their duty under the Crime and Disorder 
Act 1998 to consider the crime and disorder implications of their decisions 
and the authority’s responsibility to co-operate in the reduction of crime and 
disorder in the Borough.  

8.4 The Sub-Committee is reminded that the Human Rights Act 1998 guarantees 
the right to a fair hearing for all parties in the determination of their civil 
rights.  The Act also provides for the protection of property, which may 
include licences in existence, and the protection of private and family life.  

9.0 CONDITIONS

9.1 Members will be aware that an operating schedule forms part of the licensing 
process. This document outlines what activities are proposed, the opening 
hours, and how the activities will be managed particularly in respect of the 
licensing objectives.

9.2 The most critical part of the operating schedule is the steps taken by the 
applicant to promote the four licensing objectives. Applicants are always
reminded to take careful consideration as to what is entered in this section as 
whatever is proposed will be translated as conditions on the licence.

9.3 Applicants should give consideration to the local area and reflect this in their 
application. It should demonstrate an awareness of the local community, local 
crime and disorder issues, and the local environment.

9.4 Conditions consistent with the operating schedule
The applicant has offered these conditions as part of their application.

1)  The premises will be installed with CCTV that shall record 24 hours a day, 7 
days, and where all recordings will be stored for a minimum of 31 days. 

  
2)  Staff shall be fully trained on public safety, crime and disorder and public 

Page 12



nuisance.

Officers propose that the following conditions would be appropriate to attach 
to the licence to promote the licensing objectives: these are consistent with 
the applicant’s operating schedule.

1. Clear and legible notices shall be displayed at exits of the units 
requesting delivery vehicle drivers to leave the premises quietly and 
refrain from shouting, slamming delivery car doors, sounding horns, 
loud use of vehicle stereos or mobile phones and anti-social behaviour.

2. The premises licence holder shall ensure that staff shall leave the 
premises quietly.

3. All delivery of goods shall take place 09:00 – 17:00 hours so that 
nearby residents are not disturbed.

9.5 Conditions proposed by responsible authorities
As part of their representations conditions proposed by Environmental Health 
can be found on draft premises licence appendix 6 with the exception of 3 
conditions in the preceding paragraphs as they are a duplication of conditions 
proposed by the Licensing Authority under 6.3 of this report.

9.6 Conditions proposed by other objectors
None

9.7 Pool of Model Conditions
In addition to any conditions proposed by the responsible authorities the 
licensing authority also has its own pool of model conditions that may help 
mitigate the concerns raised in the representations. 

9.8 Officers do not believe that there are any additional conditions within the 
pool of model conditions which would be appropriate in this case. The 
representations do state concerns over potential nuisance from the premises, 
and the application already contains proposals which were agreed with the 
Licensing Authority with the aim of promoting the licensing objectives. 
Members may wish to enquire whether the proposals are satisfactory to 
address the concerns raised in the representations, or whether any additional 
controls would be appropriate to address those concerns. The 
representations mention that there are existing nuisances at all times, and 
the granting of this licence would have a further impact. Members are 
encouraged to investigate these nuisances and determine if they would be 
exacerbated by the use of this premises for licensable activities, but are 

Page 13



reminded that conditions would only be in effect during the licensed hours 
and cannot be applied to the operation of the premises for activities which do 
not require a licence.

9.9 With regard to the condition proposed by Environmental Health regarding the 
closure of doors and windows at the premises, members may wish to amend 
this to a similar condition which allows the use of the doors only for the 
immediate access or egress of staff.

9.10 Officers also wish to clarify the proposed condition regarding deliveries being 
made to a genuine address. After discussing this condition and the rationale 
of this condition, officers can advise that this condition is aimed at preventing 
customers standing outside of the premises on the street, or in other such 
open locations, and requesting delivery of food to their location which may 
result in public nuisance. The aim of this condition is to require that any 
deliveries are made to a genuine property, which may be either residential or 
commercial.

9.11 This does not restrict the Sub-Committee’s power to attach conditions from 
the pool (amended or otherwise) if they consider that they are appropriate, 
proportionate, justifiable and within the applicant’s power to comply with.  

9.12 A draft Premises Licence which reflects this application and the conditions 
which are proposed in the preceding paragraphs is attached at appendix 6

10.0 OFFICERS’ OBSERVATIONS

10.1 The overarching theme from residents and the Environmental Health Section 
is that if the licence is granted there may be an increase in anti-social 
behaviour, and the effect this could have on the local residents.  Most of the 
objector’s concerns relate primarily to the potential undermining of the 
licensing objective of public nuisance.

10.2 The representations refer to existing disturbances and public nuisance in the 
area.  However it is not stated if these disturbances can be linked to the 
premises which is the subject of this application.  It should also be noted that 
officers do not have evidence of existing disturbances. Members must only 
refuse this application or impose conditions if they are satisfied that there is a 
direct link between the licensable activities of Pizza Planet and an existing or 
potential undermining of the licensing objectives.

10.3 Residents are concerned about the proposed hours of operation and that if 
the late night refreshment licence is granted this licensable activity would 

Page 14



further increase footfall, noise, pollution and nuisance created by cars 
parking.  

10.4 In a number of representations issues are raised that may not fall directly 
under the control of the applicant, such as parking and litter.  These should be 
considered as matters of personal responsibility and the extent to which the 
applicant can control this beyond the boundary of the premises may be 
limited. Paragraph 2.21 of the statutory guidance states:

‘Beyond the immediate area surrounding the premises, these are matters for 
the personal responsibility of individuals under the law. An individual who 
engage in anti-social behaviour is accountable in their own right’.

10.5 A number of residents have objected on the grounds that the grant of this 
application is likely to increase traffic and potentially lead to parking 
congestion.  For the Sub-Committee to accept this as a valid ground for 
objection it must be satisfied that traffic and parking is relevant to one of the 
licensing objectives and if so, is likely to affect the licensing objectives.  
Members should note that there is in existence other primary legislation that 
can deal with any concerns relating to parking and traffic congestion.  Thus, in 
order to avoid statutory duplication it may not be appropriate for the Sub-
Committee to attach conditions relating to parking and traffic issues.  
Members may need to consider how the premises licence holder can 
influence and control such matters.

10.6 Representation 5U refers to a petition containing ten signatures. Having 
looked at some of the petition addresses it seems there are two addressees 
who have signed the petition and  also submitted individual objections under 
paragraph 7.1 reference letter 5J and 5O and is a repeat.  Some of the 
signatories live further away from the premises and so officers would ask the 
Sub-Committee to attach whatever weight they see fit.

10.7 Under the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 persons making 
representations are required to provide their name and address details .With 
regards to Representation 5B and 5P there is no submission of address 
details.  However the letter indicates that the objectors are nearest to the 
premises as they have confirmed receipt of our letter and are living close to 
the premises. Members will recall that changes to the legislation allow ‘any 
person’ to make representations, and are no longer constrained by members 
of the public or business ‘within the vicinity’. Businesses and community 
groups are included in the definition of ‘any person’ and may attach whatever 
weight they see fit.

Page 15



10.8 When considering the residents representations it is important to note that 
the Licensing Sub Committee has the ability to control the licensable activities 
allowed at the premises but has no power over the location. Residents have 
concerns that the operation of the premises would attract more people to the 
area. The premise is not proposing to operate as a traditional ‘take away’ and 
the Licensing Authority has addressed this concern. The public will not be 
allowed to enter the premises and food will not be taken away as it is 
conditioned for delivery only.

10.9 Objections have been received from residents all of whom have grave 
concerns that their quality of life and their locality would be adversely 
affected and highlighted different areas for this business to be and have 
stated there is no ‘need’ for the premises. Members will be aware that the 
issue of need is specifically excluded from being a valid consideration under 
paragraph 14.19 of the statutory guidance.
 

10.10 The representations against this application make reference to more crime 
however the police have made no representations.  This is a new application 
and it seems it is speculation that any will arise as there is no public access, no 
sale, supply or storage of alcohol involved and delivery to bona fide addresses 
only.  Paragraph 9.43 of the guidance clearly states that ‘The authority’s 
determination should be evidence-based, justified as being appropriate for 
the promotion of licensing objectives and proportionate to what is it intended 
to achieve’.

10.11 Environmental Health objections were made following a site visit.
In the context of preventing public nuisance and to mitigate the residents’ 
concerns Environmental Health have proposed a number of conditions and if 
the Committee is minded to grant this application, that the hours are 
restricted bearing in mind the nature of the locality. The Sub-Committee 
should note that it is again appropriate that conditions are focused on 
measures within the direct control of the licence holder.

10.12 Ward Councillors’ representations are based on the ‘likely effect’ that the 
grant of the licence would have on the licensing objectives.  Whilst there is no 
need for any supporting evidence for are representation to be valid, it is  
clearly for members to attach whatever weight they think fit to such 
evidence.

10.13 Members are able to depart from policy in where there are justifiable reasons 
for doing so, and after considering the individual merits of the application 
before them.

Page 16



10.14 In considering this application and whether to depart from policy, Members 
may wish to take into account the proposed use of the premises, and how the 
operating schedule makes reference to how the business will utilise any 
licence to focus on running a delivery-only service. Members may wish to 
seek confirmation of how the delivery service will operate from the applicant, 
and whether such an operation addresses the objectors’ concerns. If 
Members believe it is appropriate to do so, there may be scope to discuss 
additional conditions based upon such information.  

10.15 When considering the representations the Sub-Committee ought to 
remember that unless there are good reasons to refuse an application 
because of risks to the licensing objectives, the licence ought to be granted 
and any subsequent breaches addressed through the licence review and/or 
enforcement process.

10.16 The officers’ observations and the comments regarding the representations 
are in no way meant to bind Members. They are for guidance only and 
Members may attach whatever weight they see fit. 

10.17 Members can also attach whatever weight they see fit to the submissions of 
the applicant, the Environmental Health representations and to the 
submissions of the objectors and the petition, when considering this 
application.

10.18 The Sub-Committee are reminded that they have a duty to “have regard” to 
the licensing policy but are not bound by it. However, should Members wish 
to depart from the policy then detailed reasons for this must be given as part 
of any decision.

10.19 In determining this application, the Sub-Committee must have regard to the 
representations and take such steps as it considers appropriate for the 
promotion of licensing objectives. The steps are:

(a) grant the application in full.

(b) modify the conditions of the licence volunteered by the applicant in 
the operating schedule, by altering or omitting or adding to them.

(c) reject the whole or part of the application.

Appendices
Appendix 1 – location plan

Page 17



Appendix 2 – layout plan
Appendix 3 – operating schedule
Appendix 4 – Responsible Authority representations
Appendix 5 – Other Persons representations
Appendix 6 – Draft premises licence

Background Papers
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report.  
If you wish to inspect or take copies of the background papers, please contact 
the officer named on the front page of the report.

Licensing Act 2003
Amended guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Home 
Office April 2017)
Licensing Act (Hearings) Regulations 2005
Watford Borough Council Licensing Policy (November 2013 – November 2018) 
Watford Borough Council Pool of Model Conditions (March 2013)
 
File Reference
Pizza Planet

Reviewed by

Licensing Richard Brown & Austen  
Young 20/10

Head of Community & Environmental Services Justine Hoy 20/10
Legal CN 20/10
Finance
Committee and Scrutiny Support Officer JK 18/10

Page 18



 

Page 19



 

Page 20



17/01127/PRE 
 

 
OPERATING SCHEDULE FOR 

Pizza Planet, Unit 15 
Riverside Road 

Watford 
WD19 4HY 

 
 

 
Description of premises 
WE WILL BE OPERATING A DELIVERY SERVICE OF HOT FOOD, FOOD 
(PIZZA'S) WILL BE PERPARED AT THE SIGHT AND SHALL BE 
DELIVERED TO THE CUSTOMER. WE DO NOT OFFER A SIT IN SERVICE 
AND WE DO NOT OFFER A COLLECTION SERVICE. WE SHALL 
OPERATE FROM A INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE BASED IN RIVERSIDE 
INDUSTRIAL ESTATE. THERE WILL BE NO SUPPLY OR SALE OR 
STORAGE OF ALCOHOL.   
 
General observations 
THE FOOD WILL BE PERPARED ON THE SIGHT AND DELIVERED TO 
THE CUSTOMER WITHIN A 3 MILE RADIUS 
 
Prevention of crime and disorder 
The premises will be installed with 24/7 CCTV where all recordings will be 
stored for a minimum of 31 days. Door and floor supervision will be in place at 
all times. Even though walk-in customers will not be a factor of concern as we 
will not offer a collection or a sit in facility, the design and layout of the floor 
and overall business will minimize the number of personal within the premises 
at any given time. alcohol will not be served at any time. A direct phone line 
service which allow an instant contact to emergency services in case of 
unexpected emergencies. A record book of all incidents will be kept and crime 
prevention sign-age will be displayed outside of the business. Tailor made 
training will be provided to individual staff to help them deal with possible 
conflicts/crimes/disorder. a staff will under go full training on prevention of 
crime and disorder. They will also sign a compact after this training has been 
completed. 
 
Public safety 
Community driven strategies combined with good policing tactics, will help 
increase public trust and safety. Gaining community involvment  and involving 
them in certain aspects of the business will ensure safety. Specific training 
 
Prevention of public nuisance 
For the safety of the public, only a set number of vehicles and personnel will 
be allowed on-site at any given time. Only hybrid vehicles will be used for 
business purposes as this will help reduce noise and pollution within the area. 
Parking is allocated on the industrial estate away from any residents so noise 
will not be a factor of concern for the residents. 

Page 21



 
Protection of children from harm 
We will not employ any staff under the age of 18. As we do not offer a 
collection or dine in interaction is of minimal. Of course our delivery drivers will 
hold a full uk license with the correct insurances in place and will take extra 
due care when delivering the food. 
 
   
Licence number:   
 
 
 
 

Case officer:  Mrs P Seyan 

Page 22



1 

 

 

Memo 

 

Community and Environmental Services 

 

 

 

 

Memo to Licensing - representation 

 

to Licensing Authority 

  

from 

 

Catherine Trollope, Environmental Health Officer, Community and 

Environmental Services, Watford Borough Council  

 
ext. 01923 278582 

email Catherine.trollope@watford.gov.uk 

date 3
rd

 October 2017 

re Pizza Planet, Unit 15, Riverside Works, Riverside Road, Watford 

 

As a Responsible Authority under the Licensing Act 2003, the Environmental Health Section has been 

consulted about the above application.  

 

Environmental Health wish to make the following representation in relation to this application on the 

grounds of prevention of public nuisance; 

 

Environmental Health do not believe that the application should be granted due to the fact that public 

nuisance in the form of noise and light will be caused if the business is operated as requested in the 

application. 

 

The premises is located on an industrial estate situated in a residential area. The Unit is the first unit 

on the estate and adjoins the public pavement. It is known as Unit 15. 

 

Appendix A contains a map of the area showing Pizza Planet at Unit 15 and the location of residential 

properties around the Industrial estate and the Unit. 

 

Appendix B shows images of Riverside Road; Pizza Planet at Unit 15; and the surrounding residential 

properties. 

 

The industrial estate has a set of metal gates at the entrance. The units within it are small – medium 

light industrial units, mainly car workshops. The businesses operating there cease trading at 18:00 at 

the latest, meaning that traffic flow and noise will start to die down as the businesses close at this 

time. Table 1 below shows their opening hours: 

 

Page 23



2 

 

Business Name Opening Hours - 

Monday to Friday 

Opening Hours - 

Saturday 

Opening Hours - 

Sunday 

APS  08:00 - 17:00 08:00 - 15:00 closed 

PX Motors 08:00 - 18:00 08:00 - 18:00 closed 

WMS 08:30 - 18:00 08:30 - 12:00 closed 

Armstrong 09:00 - 17:00 09:00 - 13:00 closed 

KM Effects 09:00 - 18:00 closed closed 

Paragon Cars 09:00 - 18:00 09:00 - 17:00 11:00 - 16:00 

Table 1: Opening hours of businesses on Riverside Works Industrial Estate 

 

There are no other business premises, shops, pubs etc. in the vicinity, only residential properties. 

Riverside Road is an access road to the residential properties on the estate, it is not a main road or a 

route in or out of Watford. It is used as a cut through by some people between Wiggenhall Road and 

Eastbury Road, but this is at morning and evening rush hours and not during the mid -evening and 

night.  

 

There is some bus traffic on Riverside Road but the last buses to go down the Road are 17:57 Monday 

to Friday and 14.24 on Saturday. This indicates a reduction in travel and movement of people on this 

road at this time. 

 

There are vehicle restrictions on the road as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monitoring of the road outside the entrance to Riverside Works and Unit 15 was carried out on 

Monday 2
nd

 October between 20:24 and 00:00. Photographs were taken of the road upon arrival; 

notes of vehicles witnessed were made; and photos were taken just before departure.   

 

Appendix C shows the monitoring location and photographs of the road at 20:30 and 00:00. 

 

A summary of the vehicle movements witnessed is provided in Table 2 below: 

 

Time Number of Vehicle 

Movements witnessed  

Number of Vehicles that passed the 

entrance to Riverside Works and Unit 15 

20:30 – 21:00 25 20 

21:00 – 22:00 25 14 

22:00 – 23:00 27 22 

23:00 – 00:00 4 4 

Table 2: Number of vehicle movements witnessed at Riverside Road on 2
nd

 October 2017 between 

20:24 and 00.00 

 

‘Waiting by goods vehicles over a 

gross weight of 5T prohibited during 

the periods and in the direction 

indicated’ 

 

Page 24



3 

 

 

As can be seen in table 2, the number of vehicle movements remained steady throughout the 

evening then then decreased significantly at 23:00. In addition, the majority of the street lights were 

turned off at 23:55. The monitoring Officer also noted that background noise levels in the road were 

low after 23:00 and once the lights were turned off at 23:55 the road was dark and very quiet. The 

photographs in Appendix C show lighting levels at both 20:30 and 00.00. 

 

In conclusion, the evidence shows the locality to be a quiet residential location from mid evening 

onwards and a very quiet dark residential location from 23:00 onwards. It is reasonable to assume 

that the majority of occupants of the surrounding residential dwellings will be in bed around 11pm on 

work and school nights and that children will be in bed between 7pm and 9pm. Residents will also 

want to enjoy their home environments for the evening.  

 

BS 8233: 2014 (2) provides guidance for control of noise in and around buildings and suggests 

appropriate criteria and limits for different situations. It sets the night time period (when lower limits 

for noise are set) to be 23:00 to 07:00. The levels that it sets are based on the existing guidelines 

issued by the World Health Organisation (WHO) who also classify night time as 23:00 to 07:00. 

Conditions conducent to sleep are therefore to be reasonably expected between these hours. 

 

The unit itself has two food businesses operating from it.  A small manufacturing food business and 

Pizza Planet. There is no mechanical ventilation system. Windows are used for ventilation (this is 

acceptable under food hygiene legislation for the nature of the current use). There are no planning 

restrictions on the hours of operation of either of the food businesses and nothing to prevent them 

from operating at the same time. There are two opening windows on the side of the building facing 

the gates to the estate.  There is a large metal shutter door with a ‘standard’ door contained within it 

for access and egress on the same side as the window. The Unit is the first one on the estate, just 

inside the gates and adjacent to the pavement. 

 

The trade waste bins for the unit are located opposite the entrance door on the left hand side of the 

entry road to the estate. 

 

There are houses located directly opposite the unit and the access gates/road onto the estate. These 

are likely to be most affected by the proposed business, they have a number of room windows on 

both ground and first floor facing the entrance to the estate. There are other houses to the side of 

the unit and houses on both sides of the road going either way down the road that are also very likely 

to be affected by public nuisance. 

 

Delivery drivers will approach the unit from either direction and need to pull into the estate through 

the gates, park up and collect the Pizza. They will then either have to reverse back out on the road or 

turn around in the estate and drive out forwards through the gates onto the road. There will be noise 

associated with this and they will need their car lights on during the evening and night. They could 

park on the pavement outside (there are no restrictions) then either drive on in the same direction or 

turn around in the road or in the entrance to the estate. Again there will be associated noise and 

light.  

 

Bearing in mind the above evidence; the nature of the area; the characteristics of the unit; and the 

nature of the proposed business there is the potential for residents to be affected by public nuisance 

caused by noise from: 

1. Noise breakout from open windows at the premises used for ventilation; 

2. Noise breakout as the door opens and closes with delivery drivers collecting pizzas 

Page 25



4 

 

3. Noise from the metal door and shutters as the door is opened and closed for pizzas to be 

given to the delivery drivers 

4. Noise from delivery vehicles driving up to and away from the unit 

5. Noise from delivery drivers opening and closing their vehicle doors 

6. Noise from vehicle horns 

7. Noise from drivers and staff talking.  

8. Noise from use of the bins 

9. Noise from the metal gates being closed when the business is closed and the estate locked up 

– this will take place after the business has stopped trading and has cleared up which could be 

15-30 minutes after the end of business, stretching to 4.30am in the morning. 

10. Additional noise if the other food business is operating at the same time 

 

Bearing in mind the above evidence; the nature of the area; the characteristics of the unit; and the 

nature of the proposed business there is the potential for residents to be affected by public nuisance 

caused by light from: 

1. Light breakout from open windows at the premises used for ventilation; 

2. Light breakout as the door opens and closes with delivery drivers collecting pizzas 

3. Head lights from the vehicles driving up to and away from the unit 

4. Light from signage erected at the premises 

 

In the application the applicant states that in order to prevent public nuisance only a set number of 

vehicles and personnel will be allowed on site at any given time. There is no detail to this and no 

information on how and where drivers would be prevented from driving onto site. This could result in 

vehicles waiting on the street. If the business grows, then they will not want to refuse orders and 

trade in order to keep the number of drivers visiting the premises to collect down to a certain level. I 

have not been able to determine what a suitable number of cars arriving at the premises during the 

various hours of operation would be. There is no way of determining the number below which a 

nuisance would not occur. 

 

The applicant states that only hybrid vehicles will be used but these will need to be used consistently 

in the electric mode to reduce noise. I have not been able to determine the wording of a condition 

that would effectively control when, where and how the electric mode would be required to be used 

when driving to and away from the premises. 

 

If the noise from the vehicles can be addressed through the use of hybrid vehicles and a suitable and 

enforceable license condition then there is still the issue of light from the vehicles and the other 

noise associated with the drivers opening and closing the doors. 

 

Overall, a pizza delivery business operating after 23:00 each night until 04:00 every day of the week 

in this residential location is out of character for the nature of the locality and is not a reasonable use 

of the premises. These factors increase significantly the risk of statutory nuisance affecting the 

residents. 

 

Environmental Health’s representation requests that the Licence is not granted. 

 

However, if the License is granted then we ask that the permitted hours of operation are very 

carefully considered and that conditions in italics below are considered to be placed on the license to 

mitigate some of the concerns we have. Please note that that although some of the issues raised can 

be dealt with by the use of conditions we do not believe that there are enough suitable and 

Page 26



5 

 

enforceable conditions to sufficiently mitigate the noise and light nuisance to a level to prevent 

public nuisance. 

 

1. No members of the public shall be permitted to be in the premises while the premises are being 

used for licensable activities. 

 

2. All late night refreshment provided under this licence shall be for consumption off the premises 

only. 

 

3. All orders for late night refreshment shall only be accepted if they are made remotely 

 

4. The Premises Licence holder shall ensure that all orders taken by the premises shall be delivered 

to customers at a bona fide address. 

 

5. Only employed delivery drivers shall be permitted to collect late night refreshment from the 

premises 

 

6. The Premises Licence holder shall ensure that no refuse will be moved into the area outside the 

premises or external bins between 23:00 hours and when the business reopens the following 

day. 

 

7. The premises licence holder shall ensure that no external signage or advertisements shall be 

illuminated. 
NB this is to make provision for the possible future use of signage 

 

8. The premises licence holder shall ensure that all glazed windows and doors have internal blinds 

so that light from the premises is not emitted and that these blinds are pulled down over all 

areas of glazing at 23:00 until the start of business again the next working day. 

 

9. There shall be no metal shutters or metal doors on the building as these cause excess noise. 
NB This will require the License holder to alter the structure of the unit, for which permission from the unit freeholder will 

no doubt be required.  It is therefore not clear whether this condition can be complied with by the applicant. 

 

10. The Premises Licence holder shall ensure that any extract unit at the premises will be turned off 

at 23:00 hours and shall not be turned on again until the business reopens the following day.  
NB this is to make provision for the possible future use of signage 

 

11. The Premises Licence holder shall ensure that all windows and doors shall be closed at 23:00 

hours and remain closed until the business reopens the following day, except for the immediate 

access or egress of staff. 
NB If there is a condition to keep windows and doors closed after 11pm then there will be no means of ventilating the 

premises, this is required by food and health and safety legislation. 

 

12. Delivery vehicles shall be electric vehicles only (not hybrid) 

 

Thank you for considering this Representation from Environmental Health  

Yours sincerely 

 

 

Catherine Trollope 

Environmental Health Officer 

Page 27



6 

 

Appendix A 
 

 

 
Map showing the location of Unit 15 Riverside Road Works (see red marker flag) 

 

 

 

 
Map showing the location of Unit 15 Riverside Road Works (see red marker flag) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



7 

 

 

 

Appendix B 

 

 
View down Riverside Road towards Silk Mill Road with Unit 15 on the right hand side past the last 

house on the right 

 

 

 
View down Riverside Road towards Silk Mill Road showing the position of houses opposite Unit 15 

Page 29



8 

 

 
View down Riverside Road towards Waterman Close with Unit 15 being the first building  on the left 

hand side 

 

 
Entrance into Riverside Works Industrial Estate with Unit 15 being the first Unit on the right hand side 

Page 30



9 

 

 
Close up picture of Unit 15 showing the windows used for ventilation of the unit and the large shutter 

door with an opening door within it 

 

 
Picture of the side of Unit 15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



10 

 

APPENDIX C 

 

 
Map of monitoring location on 2

nd
 October 2017  – highlighted in red 

 

 

 
20:30 - Monday 2

nd
 October 2017: Gate to Riverside Works with Unit 15 on the right hand side of the 

gates. 

Page 32



11 

 

 
20:30 - Monday 2

nd
 October 2017: Riverside Road view towards Waterman Close with Unit 15 on the 

left hand side 

. 

 
20:30 - Monday 2

nd
 October 2017: Riverside Road view towards Silk Mill Road with Unit 15 on the 

right hand side 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



12 

 

 
23:55 - Monday 2

nd
 October 2017: Riverside Road view towards Waterman Close with Unit 15 on the 

left hand side 

 

 

 
23:55 - Monday 2

nd
 October 2017: Riverside Road view towards Silk Mill Road with Unit 15 on the 

right hand side 

 

Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



APPENDIX 6

Premises Licence page 1

 Licensing Act 2003
Schedule 12

Part A
Regulation 33,34

Premises Licence

Premises Licence Number 17/01127/PRE

Part 1 – Premises Details

Postal address of premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or description, including Post 
Town, Post Code

Pizza Planet
Unit 15
Riverside Road
Watford
WD19 4HY

Telephone number  

Where the licence is time limited the dates

From 

Licensable activities authorised by the licence and the times the licence authorises the carrying out of 
licensable activities

Late Night Refreshment Monday to Sunday 16:00 - 02:00

The opening hours of the premises

Monday to Sunday 16:00 - 02:00

Page 93



Premises Licence page 2

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol whether these are on and / or off supplies

Not applicable

Part 2

Name, (registered) address, telephone number and email (where relevant) of holder of premises 
licence

Hamzah Chaudry
24 Albert Road North
Watford
Herts
WD17 1QF

Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number (where applicable)

07840704298

Name, address and telephone number of designated premises supervisor where the premises licence 
authorises for the supply of alcohol

Not applicable

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated premises 
supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the supply of alcohol

Personal Licence Number:Not applicable
Licensing Authority: Not applicable 

Page 94



Premises Licence page 3

Annex 1 – Mandatory conditions

There are no mandatory conditions which are applicable to this licence based upon the details of 
this application

Page 95



Premises Licence page 4

Annex 2 – Conditions consistent with the Operating Schedule

The following conditions are considered by officers to be consistent with the Operating Schedule
submitted with this application, reference 17/01127/PRE 

1) The premises will be installed with 24/7 CCTV where all recordings will be stored for a minimum 
of 31 days. 

2)      Staff shall be fully trained on public safety, crime and disorder and public nuisance.

Conditions proposed  and agreed by the Licensing Authority

3)    The premises licence holder shall ensure that no members of the public shall be admitted to the 
premises.

4)    All orders for late night refreshment shall only be accepted if they are made remotely.

5)    The premises licence holder shall ensure that all orders for late night refreshment are dispatched 
to bona fide addresses only.

Page 96



Premises Licence page 5

Annex 3 – Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority

Officers have proposed additional conditions in response to the representations submitted against 
this application.

However, this does not restrict the sub-committee’s power to attach conditions from the licensing 
authority’s pool of conditions (amended or otherwise) or to compose their own conditions if they 
consider that they are appropriate, proportionate, justifiable, and within the applicant’s power to 
comply with.

1) Clear and legible notices shall be displayed at exits of the units requesting delivery vehicle 
driver’s to leave the premises quietly and refrain from shouting, slamming delivery car doors, 
sounding horns, loud use of vehicle stereos or mobile phones and anti-social behaviour.

2) The premises licence holder shall ensure that staff shall leave the premises quietly.

3) All delivery of goods shall take place 09:00 – 17:00 hours so that nearby residents are not 
disturbed.

Conditions proposed by Environmental Health

4)    No members of the public shall be permitted to be in the premises while the premises are being 
used for licensable activities.

5)    All late night refreshment provided under this licence shall be for consumption off the premises 
only.

6)    All orders for late night refreshment shall only be accepted if they are made remotely.

7)   The premises licence holder shall ensure that all orders taken by the premises shall be delivered 
to customers at a bona fide address.

8)    Only employed delivery drivers shall be permitted to collect late night refreshment from the 
premises.

9)    The premises licence holder shall ensure that no refuse will be moved into the area outside the 
premises or external bins between 23:00 hours and when the business reopens the following 
day.

10)  The premises licence holder shall ensure that no external signage or advertisements shall be 
illuminated.

Page 97



Premises Licence page 6

11)  The premises licence holder shall ensure that all glazed windows and doors have internal blinds 
so that light from the premises is not emitted and that these blinds are pulled down over all 
areas of glazing at 23:00 until the start of business again the next working day.

12)  There shall be no metal shutters or metal doors on the building as these cause excess noise.

13)  The premises licence holder shall ensure that any extract unit at the premises will be turned off 
at 23:00 hours and shall not be turned on again until the business reopens the following day.

14)  The premises licence holder shall ensure that all windows and doors shall be closed at 23:00 
hours and remain closed until the business reopens the following day, except for the immediate 
access or egress of staff.

15)  Delivery vehicles shall be electric vehicles only (not hybrid).

Page 98



Premises Licence page 7

Annex 4 – Plans

Page 99


	Agenda
	3 Application for premises licence: Pizza Planet, Unit 15, Riverside Road, Watford
	Appendix 1 - Location
	Appendix 2 - Plan
	Appendix 3 - Operating Schedule
	Appendix 4 - Environmental Health Rep_better quality
	Appendix 5 - Other Persons  Representations
	Appendix 6 - Draft premises licence


